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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

Britt M. Fouks and Brian F. Hupperts,
on behalf of themselves and all others
similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,
Case No. 2-CV-2160 (JNE/FLN)
V. ORDER

Red Wing Hotel Corporation

d/b/a St. James Hotel, Veranda, Clara’s Gift
Shop, Jimmy’s Pub, Port Restaurant, and Shoe
Box Café

Defendant

This case, filed as a putative class actaigses out of Bfendant St. James Hdotel
allegedwillful failur e to properly redact its customers’ debit anedit card numberfsom its
receipts in violation of the Faand Accurate Credit Transaction Ac{*§ ACTA”) truncation
requirement al5 U.S.C.§ 1681c(g). The Amended Complaint doesilierje that Rintiffs
sufferedanyactual injury and seeks only statutory damages, which are capped at $1,000 for each
violation, and punitive damage$eel5 U.S.C. § 1681n(a).

The parties reached a tentative settlement at a conferenchevNagistrate Judge
This Court subsequently issued ard@r Preliminarily Approving Class Action SettlemerECF
No. 26,in which itcertified the clas$or settlement purposes and appointed Plaintiffs as class
representatives and Plaintiffs’ counsel as class coutibel certified class is defined there as
“all persons residing in Minnesota and Wisconsin who, during the time period from May 11, 2011,
through August 31, 2012, inclusive, used a personal credit or debit card at St. James Hotel and

received a receipt that containedmm than 5 digits of the credit or debit card.”
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Now before the Court arddmntiffs’ Motion for Fnal Approval ofClass Action
SettlementECF No. 29, and Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs, ECF No. 33. For the
reasons that followhe Court grants final approval to the settlement witmtbdification

described below and denies without prejudice the motion for attorney’s fees and costs.

Discussion
l. Motion for Final Approval of Class Action Settlement.
The partieseek final approvalf theirproposedsettlement in which thBefendant
would provide to the 16&lass memberswho timely subnitted claims avoucherfor either 40%
off a stay at the St. James Hotel (not to exceed a $500 value) or 30% off a mealoatlth
restaurant (not including alcohol and not to exceed a $100 value). The varelgersd for one
transaction onlynot transferable or redeemable for gastd may only be redeemed during a
nine-month periodhat the parties anticipate will rdrom January 1, 2014 tOctoberl, 2014.
Under the terms of the settlemethie Defendant would also make direct cash payments of
$4,000 to both of thelass representativesd a cy pres donation of $20,000 to the Red Wing

Environmental Learning Centwiithin ten days of the Court’s final approval.

A. Standard of review.
Though a proposed class action settlement is “presumptively valid,” the Court need not
and should not “automatically approve anything the parties set befotatite’ Rock School
Dist. v. Pulaski County Special School Dist. N®21 F.2d 1371, 1383, 1391 (8th Cir. 1990).
Indeed, Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(e) “requires the court to intrude qraftles’]

private consensual agmment . . . as a fiduciargerving as a guardian of the rights of absent



class members.In re Wireless Telephone Federal Cost Recovery Fees Litig@8&F.3d 922,
932, 934 (8th Cir. 2005)nternal citation omitted) As a fiduciary, the Court has a duty to the
absent class members to “ensure that the agreement is not the product of frawdioncaid
that, taken as a whole, it is fair, adequate, and reasonable to all concednatl 934(internal
citation omitted).

In assessg whether the proposed settlement satisfies'tair, adequate, and
reasonable” standarthe Court consider$(1l) the merits of the plaintiff's case, weighed against
the terms of the settlement; (2) the defengddtancial condition; (3) the complexity and
expense of further litigation; and (4) the amount of opposition to the settlenheme”Wireless
Telephone396 F.3d at 93Zinternal citation omitted). The first consideration carries the most
weight. Id.

Because this proposed settlement would provide plaintiff class members with “\8jucher
that would require them to purchasere ofthe defendant’s goods and services in order to
receive aiscount, the provision of the Class Action Fairness Act of 2QDAFA”) regarding
coupon settlements at 28 U.S.C. § 1712 is also applicable hemestdtnte specifies that, where
a proposed settlement includes the award of coupons to class members, “the court ovay appr
the proposed settlement only [upon] making a written finding thahe.settlement is fair,

reasonable, and adequate for class members.” 28 U.S.C. § 1712(e).

B. The proposed settlement warrants final approval only with a reduction to theclass
representative awards.
Having consideredll of the relevantactors,the Court notes particular the difficulty

FACTA plaintiffs who seek only statutory damageay encountein proving the defendant’s



willful non-compliance wheréhe casaloes not settle and proceedsrial. In addition, the
Court tales note that no class member has objetelde proposed settlement. Those factots
in favor of final approval of the settlement, but the Cauineasy about the difference in kind
and amount between the $4,000 cash payments Plaintiffs seek feethesnand the far less
valuable coupons that thejgemadequate for thetherclass members.

Plaintiffs acknowledge that they have suffered no aatjialy and that their recovery of
statutory damagesould therefore beapped a$1,000each Nevertheless, theargue thathe
proposed $4,000lass representative awgrdymentgo themarejustified as an “incentive
award or “reimbursementfor the timespent and risk assumed in pursuing this litigation.

In support of tkir argumentPlaintiffs cite In re U.S. Bancorp Litig.291 F.3d 1035,
1038 (8th Cir. 2002), which in turn cit€ook v. Niedert142 F.3d 1004, 1016 (7th Cir. 1998),
for the proposition that incentive awards are appropriate in certain circuessach as these
where the named ptdiff has taken action to ptect thanterestof aclass However Plaintiffs
guote, but fail tesatisfy, theprerequisiteexpressed in those cases that “an incentive award is
appropriatef it is necessary to induce an individual to participate ingbg” Id. (emphasis
added). Indeed, t@ookcourtexplainecthat the “most significant[]” factor justifying an
incentive award thereas that “in filing the suit, [the named plaintiff] reasonably feared
workplace retaliation.”ld. See alsdn re U.S. Bancorp291 F.3d a1038 (approvimass
representative awarad $2,000 where plaintiffs achieved a settlement on behalf afidise
valued at $3.5 million). Here, Plaintiffs have put forth no evidence or argument thagess
the Court that theyequired anyenticement beyontheir potential statutory recovery boing this

caseor that their actions in prosecutingare deserving of a reward



Plaintiffs also cite tdn re Plastic Tableware Antitrust Litigatioa 1995 case from the
EasterrDistrict of Pennsylvania. 1995 WL 723175 (E.D.Pa. Dec. 4, 1995). Thatlistedtas
“[flactors to consider when assessing incentive awdhdsfollowing:

(a) the risk to the plaintiff in commencing suit, both financially and othervwb3e; (

thenotoriety and/or personal difficulties encountered by the representative

plaintiff; (c) the extent of the plaintiff's personal involvement in the suit in terms

of discovery responsibilities and/or testimony at depositions or trial; (d) the

duration of the litigation; and (e) the plaintiff's personal benefit (or lackdfere

purely in his capacity as a member of the class.

Id. at *2. However, even after reciting these factors in their memorarRlamtiffs fail to
explain how theyapply to the circumstaes at handapparently believing it to suffice that they
have“actively participatetiand “dedicated over forty hours of their time” to the litigation

On thesaninimal facts however, the Court is not persuadgdPlaintiffs’ contention that
theyeachdeservefour times the maximum recovery possible under the stiduteaking [this]
difficult path and enforcing Congress’ consumer protection legislation.” Tasmaply no
evidence before the Court that the Plaintiffs faced any risks or burdens inalkimgethis
litigation, or that there exist any other factthat wouldjustify theamount they seek, whether
styled as an incentive award or reimbursement.

To the contrary, this case was not strongly contestesktiement negotiations begin
the earliest stages of the litigation; demanded very little of the Plaintiffs individdaliyot
implicate the public intereséndpresentedio novel,complex or controversiaissues In fact, it
is but the latest in bong line of strikingly similarFair Credit Reporting Act‘FCRA”) suits
brought in this @htrict by Plaintiffs’ counsel, at least two of which have included Plaintiff
Hupperts as alass representative&seekbert et al v. Warners’ Stellian Co., ln&No. 11-cv-2325

(JRT/SER) Huppertsv. APOGEE Retail, LLONo. 12ev-00915(TNL). Plaintiff Hupperts was

noteveninvolved from the beginning of this litigation, but was added in the Amended



Complaint almosthree months after settlement discussions begasligindly more than two
months befor¢he settlement was reached

Therefore, in consideration of all of thelevantfactors, the Court finds that the proposed
settlement warrants final approval, but only with a significant reduction to dpeged awards
to the two class representativeswifig to the nature of this litigation arnlde facts of this case’
history, the Courtletermines that eeduction of thelass representative awardsstg000for
Plaintiff Fouks and $50fbr Plaintiff Huppertds necessary to render thetkghentas a whole
fair, adequate, and reasonable.

In light of the parties’ agreement in the Stipulation of Settlement that the Court may in its
discretion award the class representatives any amount up to $4,000, ECF2Na2a),the
Court modifes the class representative awaetsordingly and grants final approval to the

settlement as so modified

I. Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs.

The parties reached‘elear-sailing” agreement during their settlement negotiations that
Defendant would not oppose an award of attorney’s fees and costs to Plaintiffs1 aoamse
amount up to $65,000The partieslso agreed that “allowance or disallowance by the Court of
all or any part of th Fee Petition is not a condition of the settent. ..” Id. at  6(d)

Plaintiffs’ counsel has accordingly filed an unopposed Motion for Attorney’s &rek£osts,
separate from the Motion for Final Approvedguestinghat the Court approve a $65,000 award

based on a lodestar analysis. ECF No. 33.



A. Standard of review.

Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(h), the Court “may award reasottabhegs
fees and nontaxable costs that are authorized by law or by the’pagtesment.”In a class
action coupon settlement such as this, the Chas the discretion to use either a percentage or
lodestar method in awarding fees . .T.fue v. American Honda Motor C&49 F.Supp.2d 1052,
1077 (C.D.Cal. Feb. 26, 2010%ee28 U.S.C. § 1712(a)-(b).

In calculating the lodestgiany attaney’s fee award shall be based upon the amount of
time class counsel reasonably expended working on the action” and is “subjecbi@bppr
thecourt.” Id. § 1712b)(1)-(2). Whereapercentage dahe classsrecovery isawarded “the
portion of any attorney’s fee award to class counsel that is attributabkedw/énd of coupons
shall be based on the value to class members of the coupons that are redé&brgdédlZa).

To determine that valyé¢he Court may “receive expddstimony from a witness qualified to
provide information on the actual value to the class members of the coupons that anededee

Id. § 171%d).

B. Counsel’s lodestar calculation is unreasonable.
Here,Plaintiffs’ counsel uges the Court to use thedestamethod tdind that the
$65,000 he seeks is a reasonable award. However, based on the grave concerns described below,
the Court finds that a $65,000 award is unreasonably high and that both the 182 hours expended
on this case and the $400 houdye counsel requesdse far in excess of what would be

reasonable.



1. The hours expendedare unreasonable for a case of this nature.

First, counsel argudhkat it was reasonable for hiamd his paralegal to spend 182 hours
on this shortived, straightforwardcasebecause a ferable settlement was achieved through his
efforts. Counsehllsosuggests that the reasonable number of heasincreased in this case
because the Defendant “initially resist[ed]” the claims, thereby creatidigionalwork.

Those arguments are not persuasie.already notedthe Defendant did not vigorously
contest this case. In fact, counsel’s own billing paperwork submitted in support of lna mot
demonstrates th#e parties begasettiement discussiors arly asOctober 23, 2012, the day
the parties appeared before the Magistrate Judge for the Initial Pretriak€weand less than
two months after the Complaint was fileth addition, there was no motions practice ted
Defendant stipulated to counsel’s amendment of the Complaint.

Furthermorethe majority of counsel’s written submissions in this case are boilerplate.
For instance, compare counsel’'s Complaint, ECF No. 1, Memorandum in Support of Motion for
Preliminary Approval of Class Action SettlemelBCF No. 21, Memorandum in Support of
Motion for Final Approval of Class Action Settlement, ECF No. 31, and Memorandum in
Support of Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs, ECF No. 35, with those filed in, as but two
examples among mangaun v. AMentq No. 11ev-2024 (PAM/FLN) ancEbert et al v.

Warners’ Stellian Co., IngNo. 11ev-2325(JRT/SER). Counsel’s repetition dfoilerplate
language and identicatguments from these very similar casedermineghe reasonableness

of the hours helams for drafting and filing these documerfitesre The cases are not complex.
In 2003, Congress requiretectronicallygenerated debit and credit card receipts to contain no
more than five digits. It takes no more thiaafingers on one hand to determine statutory

compliance; the hours that counsel claims to have spent here are entirelynatykaso



The Court is also highly skeptical of the propriety of a number of counsel’s otlieg bill
entries, such as tf804 hourdhe charges foreviewing an email “regarding dislike fohfm] and
the lawsuit” and researitty how to respond, the 5.79 hoursdiemsfor the settlement
conference with the Magistrate Judge that lasted only four hours, and the 6.51 hourddre bills
reviewing hisfiles and meeng with Plaintiffs to “check time slips for audit to make sure no

duplicative entries” for purposes of his fee petition and their incentive awards.

2. The hourly rate counsel requestss exorbitant.

Second, counsel argues that an hourly rate of $400 for his services is reasohable. T
touchstone for determining a reasonable hourly ratarfattorney’s services is thatbe “in line
with those prevailing in the community for similar services by lawyersadganably comparable
skill, experience, and reputationMcDonald v. Armontroyt860 F.2d 1456, 1458-59 (8th Cir.
1988) (quotingBlum v. Stensql65 U.S. 886, 895-96 (1984)To this end, counsglrepared
and submittec table listing hourly feggurportedlyawarded tattomeys in Minnesa@
consumer financial litigationMinnesota Consumer Financial Litigation Attorney Rates and
Court Awards (ECF No. 36-2)The table reflects a range of fees in federal dooum $235 on
the low end for an attorney with six years of exgece to $50 on the high end for an attorney

with 47 years of experience.

! Counsel’s suggestion that he will devatey significandditionaltime to thiscaseduring the
voucher redemption period by “answering calls and questions on the settlement vondher” a
otherwise'overseeing” the redemption proceésslso dubiousThe parties have retained a third
party settlement adminisiior, paid for by the Defendant, to distribute the coupons by mad. T
Court is confident that the class memhbanesfully capable of presenting the coupons at the point
of sale for the applicable discount without counsel’'s assistance.

% The Court disegards the rasattributed to the one state court matter that was included in the
table.



The Court notethat the majority of entries in this table are for fees awarded either to
counsel himself (Thomas J. Lyons, Jr.) or to his father and freqa@atunse(Thomas J.
Lyons). Given this intimate familiarity with the fees litigation counsel includessitable, the
Court is deeplyroubled bythe misleading entrieto be found there. Counsel represents to the
Court that he wasdwarded a rate of $400, antis father wasawarded $450 per hourin this
district as recently as January 201Zaun v. Al VentoNo. 11ev-2024 (PAM/TNL). See
Declaration in Support of Motion for Attorney Fees at 1 7-8 (ECF No. 36) (incorpotaibieg
of feesby referenceénto counsel’s sworn statement). However, while counsel and his father
requested those rates in that casectiet specificallyfoundthat “the hourly rate requested for
both attorneys in this matter is far too high.” Memorandum and Order at&v{A024, ECF
No. 58). In light of that conclusion as well as numerous and egregxaunsples obver-billing
and doublehilling, the court reducedounsel’s lodestar calculation B$%and awarded just
$12,500. Thomas J. Lyons, Jr. has brought more than 1,300 cases in this district. s€leattie
the Al Ventocaseas an example of having beeawarded $400 per hour is brazen.

This misrepresentatioalsoleads theCourt to conclude thainsofar as counsel relies
upon his “skill, experience, and reputation” to justify his propwaeg] the picture he presents to
the Court igncomplete without due consideration of bidensiveprofessional disciplinary
history. Indeed,counsel has been disciplined flewerthan eightimes in 17 years of practice.
In re Petition for Disciplinary Action against Thomas Lyons, Jr., a Minnesota Attorney,
Registration No. 24964@&\09-472 at 13-14 (Minn. April 8, 2010)Particularly relevanin light
of counsel'amisleadingrepresentation® this Court regarding his billing rate is the indefinite
suspension he incurred in 2010 for making false and misleading statements to opposing counsel

during settlement negotiations, to disciplinary investigators, and in testinedosea referee

10



appointed by the Minnesota Supreme Court to hear the disciplinary petdiat.1213.

Counsel was reinstated in late 2Gkid has been practicing at all times during this litigation on
supervised probation pursuant to that reinstatement ohdee. Petition forReinstatement of
Thomas Lyons, Jr., a Minnesota Attorney, Registration No. 242846758 (Minn. Dec. 21,
2011).

Counsel does not acknowledge his suspension in this motion for fees. Neverithsless,
apparent from a close axaation of thecasesounsel chose to list in higblethathe continued
to work on FCRA cases in this district with his father during that period, chagd® per hour
for his servicesvhile apparently acting as a paraleg&lounsel includes at least two of these
cases in hisablg though he conspicuoustynitsany mention of his own rate$.orinstance
Anderson v. Burrito Union et alNo. 10ev-1929 (SRN/JJK) appears twice in the 2012 entries,
reflecting awards of both $400 and $450 per hour to counsel’s father. Minnesota Consumer
Financial Litigation Attorney Rates and Court Awards at 6 (ECF No. 36-2). Btalilemmits
entirelycounsel’s own requestedtes in tlat casewhich were $400 at the outset and conclusion
but dipped to $200 for the bulk of the litigation while he was susperiedlarly, Thomas J.
Lyons appears twice the table ($400 and $450 per hour) ¥twran v. Lurcat, LLCNo. 10€v-
3031 (JNE/FLN), while Thomas J. Lyons, Jr. ($200 per hour throughout) does notapgdear

Counsel’s lack of candor and his disciplinary history are highly relevant tarealysis
of his “skill, experience, and reputation,” and here they require a significhrdtien to his
requested hourly rate. In consideration of all of the factors discussed ahdwe Jight of the
fees awarded in similar cases in this dis@gtvell aghe Court’'s own knowledge and

experience with the prevailing rates in this markethaurly rate of $275 is appropriate.

11



C. The Court defers resolution of this matter until the close of the voucher redemjan

period.

Aside from the unreasonableness of counsel’s billing in this case, the Calsdsguck
by the remarkable difference between $6&,000 suncounsel seekandthe far more modest
value of the couposettlement provided to the clask response to the Court’s inquiry about
this large disparity,@unselemphasizes that tH&CRA contains a feshifting provision thats
intended to provide an incentive for competent counsel to bring suit on behalf of plarthtis
potential recovery under the statute is relatively, lamd insists that proportionality between the
monetary value of the class’s recovery and the award of attorney’s feesnethmeguired

Be that as it maywhat is undoubtedly required is tliae award of attorney’s fees be
reasonable Where the partieBave reached coupon settlementhé actuamonetary valuef
the couponsedeemed by the classa primeconsideration in thatssesment: it isan
indispensabléactor in evaluating the reasonableness of the lodestar figure, and it is
determinative when calculating an award as a percentage of the recBeert\e.g., Fed. R. Civ.
Pro. 23h) 2003 advisory committee’s not@Settlements involving non-monetary provisions
for class members . . . deserve careful scrutiny to ensure that these provigeoasthal value
to the class.”)In re General Motors Corp. Pick-Up Truck Fuel Tank Products Liability
Litigation, 55 F.3d 768, 821 (3r@ir. 1995) (noting that there “is an advantage to using the
alternativelpercentage of the recovenyjethod to double check the fee” and that “the court must
vigilantly guard against the lodestar’s potential to exacerbate the misafigohtbe attorngs’
and the class’s interestsrue 749 F.Supp.2d at 1073 (noting that the court must consider “the

realmonetary valuand likely utilization rate of theoupons provided by theettlemeritand

12



that the “lodestar amount is particularly inappropriate where . . . the bereéved for the
class is small and the lodestar award lar@eternal citation and quotation omitted).

Here,following the hearing on the motion, the Court specifically invited counsel to
supplement his submissions walvaluaton of the vouchers and to explain methodology for
making such a calculationin response, counsel declinedftter an expert opinio@as the parties
maydo under 28 U.S.C. § 1712(d), concluding that it would not be cost effective given the
relative malesty of the proposed settlement. Instead, counsel himself values the “cash savings
benefit” to the class from the redemption of the vouchers at $12,000. Counsel reaches this
numberby estimating that twehirds of the 161 class members wiave claimed theouchers —

107 people will actually redeem themusing prices and averages culled from the Defendant’s
website and an affidavit from its controller to calculdia “the estimated cash savings benefit

for the Class is $6,206 if all choose dinner and $12,305 if all choose a hotel stay”; and finding
that theredeeming class members will be “enticed” by the “increased value [of the vduohners
extended stays” at the hotel, such that “it is reasonable to conclude that the aghwsitivbe

closer tg or exceed, the estimated $12,305 in savings if all Class members choose a hotel stay
average duration.”

The Court has a number of reservations about counsel’s method#&edyaps thenost
glaringflaw is counsel’'s equation of the value of the redeemed vouchers with the total discounts
theyare expected tprovide. This simplistic analysis “ignores the basic economics of coupons,”
and“[c]ourts have generally rejected the idea that the face value of coupons or rebaté$sh
used for settlememaluation purposes.True, 749 F.Supp.2dt 1075 (cataloguing cases).
“[Clompensation in kind is worth less than cash of the same nominal value,” and that is

especially so here where the coupon is “not freely transferable on the opeh’miakkentemal
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guotations and citations omitted). In addition, couatsidoes not account for fluctuations in
the cost of rooms in Defendant’s hotel that rhaymplementedver the course of the
redemption period due to the demand pricing that is common in the hotel industry.

Thus, despite the Court’s best efforts to ascertain a reliable valuatiothieqrartiesthe
actual monetary value of the vouchers remains purely speculative. Without thisatidor,
particularly in combination with the unreliability of the evidence submitted by ebimsupport
of his motion for fees and costs, the Court determines that the proper course of &ctdefes
resolution of this matter.

Therefore, the Court deni€aintiffs’ counsel’s motion for fees and costs without
prejudice. Counsel may feée his motionfor an award of fees and costs within two months of
theclose of thevoucher redemption period, at which point the actual numbedeemed
vouchers and thamounts they were redeemed for caki@vnwith certainty. If counseldoes
not submit a motiorfor fees and costhat is consistent with this decision and includes this

additional information by December 1, 2014, the Court will consider the issue abandoned.

THEREFORE, IT IS ORDERED THAT:
1. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Final Approval of Class Action Settlement [ECF No. 29] is
GRANTED with the modification described above.
2. Plaintiffs’ Motion for Attorney’s Fees and Costs [ECF No. 33] is DENMWD'HOUT
PREJUDICE
Dated:Novenber21, 2013 s/Joan N. Ericksen

The Honorable Joan N. Ericksen
United States District Judge
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